
IN THE tINITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE DISTRiCT OF COLUMBIA

)
PUBLIC DEFENDER SERVICE FOR )
THE DISTRICT OF COLUMB1A
633 Indiana Avenue. NW )
Washington, DC 20004. )

)
Plaintiff, )

)
v. ) CIVIL ACTION

)
UN1TED STATES DEPARTMENT )
OF JUSTICE )
950 Pennsylvania Avenue. NW )
Washington, DC 20530, )

Defendant. )

___________________________________________________________________________

)

COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

1. This is an action under the Freedom of Information Act (‘FOIA”). 5 U.S.C. § 552

el seq., for injunctive and other appropriate relief. It seeks the immediate disclosure and

release of agency records that have been improperly withheld from public disclosure by

components of defendant United States Department of Justice.

2. The records at issue are of paramount public importance. They reveal the

identity. including the name. age, criminal history and physical appearance. of the convicted

sex offender who likely committed the brutal armed rape, sodomy and burglary on February

24, 198 1, for which Kirk L. Odom was \Tongfully prosecuted and wrongfully convicted. No

concern of the criminal justice system is more vital than that “guilt shall not escape or

innocence suffer.” Berger 1’. United Slates, 295 U.S. 78, 888 (1935). And vet guilt has

escaped and innocence did suffer for more than thirty years. Mr. Odom was completely
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exonerated and issued a certificate of actual innocence in July 2012 when DNA testing in

response to motions brought by the Public Defender Service under the District of Columbia

Innocence Protection Act proved to a scientific certainty that he was actually innocent. The

expiration of the statute of limitations bars prosecution of the convicted sex offender linked

by DNA to the crimes.

3. From the wrongful conviction and exoneration of Mr. Odom. including those

records which show who the real rapist likely was, the public has an opportunity to learn

what went wrong, whether other innocent men were also wrongfully convicted, and what

reforms may prevent a recurrence of the manifest injustice that was visited upon Mr. Odom

by the United States Department of Justice and its components.

4. The Executive Office of the United States Attorney, in response the Public

Defender Service’s FOIA request, withheld these records on the basis of the purported

privacy interest of the convicted sex offender whose DNA was linked to the crimes for which

Mr. Odom had been convicted, an interest which it claimed was superior to the public

interest in disclosure.

5. The Office of Information Policy affirmed that denial, again citing the purported

privacy interest of the convicted sex offender and incorrectly asserting that “any records

responsive to [the Public Defender Service’s] request would be categorically exempt from

disclosure.”

6. The matter is fully exhausted and ready for de novo review by this Court.

Jurisdiction and Venue

7. This Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(B).

8. Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(B).
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Parties

9. Plaintiff Public Defender Service for the District of Columbia (‘PDS’) is a

federally-funded organization dedicated to promoting and providing quality defense services

to indigent adults and juveniles in the District of Columbia. Among other responsibilities,

PDS provides post-conviction representation to people convicted of crimes in the District of

Columbia, including representation under the D.C. Innocence Protection Act, D.C. Code §

22-413 1, et seq., with a particular focus on reforming unfair systemic criminal justice

practices. PDS represented Kirk L. Odorn through his thirty-year search for justice,

including at his trial and sentencing, on appeal, in a petition for a writ of certiorari to the

United States Supreme Court, and in the proceedings under the Innocence Protection Act that

resulted in his exoneration.

10. Defendant United States Department of Justice (“Department of Justice” or

“DOJ”) is a Department of the Executive Branch of the United States Government. DOJ is

an agency within the meaning of 5 U.S.C. § 552(f), is sublect to the requirements of FOJA.

and includes, inter alia, components the Executive Office for United States Attorneys

(“EOUSA” or “the Executive Office”), the Office of Information Policy (“OIP”), the Office

of the United States Attorney for the District of Columbia (“USAODC”), and the Federal

Bureau of Investigation (“FBI”). DOJ component USAODC prosecuted Mr. Odom through

his trial and appellate process, and was the agency responsible for answering his motions

under the Innocence Protection Act. It is in possession of the requested records. EOUSA is

the entity that receives and processes requests for records held by the individual United

States Attorney’s Offices, including USAODC. EOUSA received and denied the FOIA

request at issue in this Complaint. OIP adjudicates administrative appeals of FOIA denials
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by LOUSA. including aflirming the FO1A denial at issue in this Complaint.

Facts

I. Kirk Odoni Was Misidentified As The Perpetrator Of A Brutal Attack, Then
Wrongfully Prosecuted And Convicted

11. Before da’sit on February 24. 1981. a man broke into an apartment near Lincoln

Park in the District of Columbia and woke the woman living there by placing a gun to her

head. After providing her with a brief view of his face in the dim light, he blindfolded her.

gagged her, and hound her hand and foot. He then raped her, sodomized her and burglarized

her home before making his escape.

12. When police responded to the scene. they collected physical evidence, including

the woman’s robe and pillowcases. Police also took the woman’s description of the

perpetrator: a black male between 20 and 30 years old. between 5’6” and 5’8”. clean shaven.

with short hair, a wiry build and a medium complexion. She soon clarified the description of

her assailant’s age. stating that he was ‘young . . . in his late teens or early twenties.”

1 3. The day after the attack, a police artist worked with the woman to create a

composite. The resulting composite depicted a nondescript young black male with no

distinguishing features.

14. More than a month later, the police had not made an arrest in the case. At that

time. a police oflicer speaking with I 8-year-old Kirk Odom about an unrelated matter

decided that Mr. Odom resembled the nondescript composite of the perpetrator.

15. On this hunch, police assembled a highly suggestive photo array containing a

photo of Mr. Odom along with photos of nine other men. Eight of the men did not match the

description of the perpetrator as young. clean shaven, and short-haired. but were instead older

4
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men who were not clean shaven or had various hairstyles. Only one photo other than that of

Mr. Odom was of a young. cleanshaven man with short hair.

16. On April 13, 1981. this highly suggestive array was shown to the woman. who

tentative1’ identified Mr. Odom as her attacker.

17. Three weeks later. Mr. Odom was arrested. PDS was appointed to represent him.

18. On May 19, 1981. police again showed the woman the suggestive array in order

to refresh her memory. Right afterwards, the police and an Assistant United States Attorney

from the USAODC conducted a live lineup for the woman. Mr. Odom was the only person

included in both the photo array and the live lineup. Additionally, Mr. Odom was made to

stand in the exact center of the seven person lineup in which. as in the photo array. most of

the men wore mustaches and/or were visibly older than Mr. Odom. He was also made to

stand on a box to make him appear taller than he in fact was. Faced with this second highly

suggestive identification procedure, the woman incorrectly identified Mr. Odom as her

attacker.

19. Three other women who suffered similar attacks in the same area during the same

time period also viewed the lineup. None of them identified Mr. Odom as her attacker.

20. The same day as the lineup, a prosecutor from the USAODC put the woman

attacked on February 24, 1981, in front of a grand jury, which returned an indictment against

Mr. Odom.

21. At trial, the USAODC presented misleading and unfounded testimony from a FBI

hair examiner purporting to corroborate the woman’s misidentification of Mr. Odom as her

attacker through a claimed match of a hair found on the woman’s robe to a sample of Mr.

Odorn’s hair.

5
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22. Mr. Odom took the stand and denied commission of the offenses. He testified

that at the time of the rape he was at home. and that the date of the rape was memorable.

notwithstanding the gap between the rape and his arrest, because on that day Mr. Odorn’s

sister came home from the hospital with her new born baby. Mr. Odom’s mother

corroborated his testimony.

23. Mr. Odom was convicted of first degree burglary while armed, rape while armed,

sodomy. and armed robbery. On January 6, 1982, he was sentenced to twenty to sixty-six

years in prison.

24, PDS attorneys filed an appeal and later a petition for a writ of certiorari to the

United States Supreme on behalf of Mr. Odom. focusing on the identification procedures and

testimony. Both were unsuccessful.

25. Because the police and the USAODC focused on Mr. Odom and, along with the

FBI. brought about his wrongful prosecution and conviction, the true perpetrator was not

found or prosecuted before the statute of limitations ran out.

26. Mr. Odom was incarcerated for more than twenty-two years and spent an

additional decade on parole for that other man’s crimes. In addition, he was forced to

register as a sex offender and endure the public opprobrium that comes with that label.

IL Decades Later, PDS Exonerates Mr. Odom Through DNA

27. Mr. Odom unwaveringly maintained his innocence across the years before finally

being vindicated and exonerated in 2012.

28. Mr. Odom’s exoneration was the result of PDS’s February 14, 2011, motion

under the Innocence Protection Act requesting DNA testing in his case.

29. Two days after PDS filed its Motion. the Superior Court ordered the USAODC to
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respond. A search of the police evidence warehouse followed, which turned up the robe and

pillowcases and the hair collected during the investigation.

30. Analysis of the pillowcases and the robe revealed semen. Nuclear DNA testing

proved to a scientific certainty that semen was not from Mr. Odom.

31. Additionally. mitochondrial DNA testing on hair from the scene demonstrated to

a scientific certainty that the hair was not Mr. Odom’s.

32. Based on these indisputable DNA results, on March 14, 2012, PDS filed a motion

to vacate Mr. Odom’s convictions and dismiss the indictment with prejudice on the grounds

of actual innocence,

33. The USAODC requested the opportunity to conduct additional testing, to which

PDS agreed and which confirmed the exclusion of Mr. Odom as the donor of the semen. It

also sought the opportunity to upload the DNA profile the laboratory obtained from the

semen against the FBI’s national Combined DNA Index System (“CODIS”) database of

DNA profiles to see if it could identify the person from whom the semen came. As

USAODC told the court. “in order to fully and fairly assess the merits of [Mr. Odom’s]

motion, the government believes it must. . . obtain the results of a CODIS search.”

34. In addition to marking its own belief that knowing whether CODIS could match

the DNA to an individual, and if so, the identity of that individual, was necessary to “fully

and fairly” evaluate how Mr. Odom came to be convicted, the USAODC acknowledged Mr.

Odom’s own right to this information and agreed to share it with him.

35. For instance, on May 24. 2012, the USAODC notified PDS that it needed an

additional four week continuance for its response to Mr. Odom’s motion to vacate his

convictions in order to give it time to upload the profile from the semen into CODIS. and
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asked PDS to agree to the continuance. The next day, PDS agreed not to oppose the

continuance on the condition that, in return, the CODIS results would be provided to PDS as

soon as they were available. That afternoon, the USAODC confirmed by email that it would

“share the CODIS results with [PDS] when they’re available.”

36. In other communications, representatives of the USAODC made clear that they

understood that they were agreeing to share the identity of any person identified in the

CODIS results with PDS, noting, for instance, that PDS could use such a person’s identity to

demonstrate that Mr. Odom had no connection with that person.

37. The CODIS system matched the DNA from the semen to the DNA profile of a

convicted sex offender. On July 10, 2012, after receiving and reviewing the name, the

criminal history and other information associated with this convicted sex offender, the

USAODC moved to join Mr. Odom’s motion to vacate his convictions. It acknowledged that

Mr. Odom had been wrongfully convicted and that there was clear and convincing evidence

that he was innocent.

38. However, the USAODC refused to share with PDS the name and identifying

information of the person identified by CODIS. Its filing stated only that the semen had

come from “a convicted sex offender.” The USAODC delayed responding to PDS’s

inquiries requesting additional information until after Mr. Odom’ s convictions were

overturned. It then incorrectly asserted that since the litigation had ended, it was barred from

sharing any additional information.

III. The Public Has An Overriding Interest In The Identity Of The Person Identified
By DNA As The Likely True Perpetrator Of The Crimes For Which Kirk Odom
Was Wrongfully Convicted

39. The public has a profound and overriding interest in records reflecting the identity

of the convicted sex offender identified by DNA testing as the likely true perpetrator of the
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armed rape and burglary on February 24. 1981, for which Kirk Odom was wrongfully

prosecuted and convicted. From these records—which should include such information as

the likely true perpetrator’s name, age, criminal history and physical appearance—the public

has an opportunity to learn what went wrong in Mr. Odoms case. to ensure that other men

were not wrongfully convicted for other crimes committed by the same perpetrator. and to

avoid future tragedies like the one visited upon Mr. Odom by the actions, oversights,

improprieties, policies, procedures, and decision-making of the Department of Justice and its

components.

40. The public’s interest in avoiding wrongful convictions is manifest and

overwhelming. Every wrongful conviction means that—in the public’s name—an innocent

person is deprived of his or her freedom and suffers the miseries of incarceration, while the

true perpetrator remains at large. The public’s interest is amply demonstrated in the

bestselling books, hit movies and award-winning journalism addressing wrongful

convictions. Mr. Odom’s specific case has captured the public’s attention through reporting

by journalists like Carrie Johnson of National Public Radio and the Washington Post’s

Spenser Hsu. who won the 2012 Scripps Howard Award in Investigative Journalism for his

series of articles exposing defendant Department of Justice’s use of flawed and unfounded

forensic evidence in thousands of convictions, including, as a particular exemplar. Mr.

Odom’s wrongful conviction.

41. DNA testing has exonerated more than 300 wrongfully convicted persons,

including Mr. Odom. Among those cases are many, like Mr. Odom’s, in which the likely

true perpetrator was identified through a CODIS hit. Yet unlike in his case, those persons

were not shielded from public view.

9
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42. In this case, the identity of the convicted sex offender is necessary to evaluate the

full extent of the errors, ineffective policies and governmental improprieties that resulted in

Mr. Odorn’s wrongful conviction, including whether there was evidence pointing to the

convicted sex offender that the police and the USAODC ignored or discounted.

43. The identity of the convicted sex offender would also help the public understand

how to deploy, and how to control and prevent law enforcement misuse of, techniques such

as the lineup and photo array procedures that the police and USAODC used in Mr. Odom’s

prosecution. Such techniques have in recent years come under intense public scrutiny in

academic studies, news reports, and cases such as State v. Henderson, 27 A.3d 872 (N.J.

2011). The requested records will increase the public understanding of how and why

eyewitness identifications and testimony become tainted. For instance, they will reveal

whether the convicted sex offender bore any resemblance to either Mr. Odom or to the

woman’s description of her attacker, which will help the public understand where the

investigation went wrong and how the lineup techniques and other actions by law

enforcement, including the USAODC. influenced or reinforced the woman’s

misidentification of Mr. Odom. In turn, this will aid the ongoing public discussion about

how to create frameworks for the use of such evidence that minimize the risk of wrongful

convictions. Indeed, the requested information may help the public determine the proper

course with regard to recently proposed District of Columbia Bill B20-60. The Eyewitness

identification Procedures Act of 2013, which proposes legal requirements for lineup

procedures such as those administered in Mr. Odom’s case, and which the USAODC has

publicly opposed.

44. In addition, the identity of the convicted sex offender may allow the public to
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uncover and correct additional wrongful convictions. The convicted sex offender’s identity

and connection to the February 24, 1981. attack would provide an additional data point in his

criminal history that might reveal or confirm his modus operandi and the territory in which

he worked. Such information might provide enough of an inference that he, and not someone

else, committed particular attacks to cause defense attorneys, prosecutors, judges and police

officers to reexamine old cases. This is far from mere speculation: on the day the victim

viewed Mr. Odom in the live lineup, there were three other women present who suffered

similar attacks in the same area in the months before her rape, none of whom identified Mr.

Odom as her attacker.

45. Given the public’s overriding interest in records reflecting the identity of the

convicted sex offender identified by DNA testing as the likely true perpetrator of the armed

rape, sodomy and burglary on February 24, 1981, FOIA requires that they be made available

to the public. 5 U.S.C. § 552. No exemption or other provision of law allows defendant to

thhold them.

IV. The Public Defender Service’s FOIA Request Was Improperly Denied

46. On December 4, 2012, pursuant to the FOIA instructions contained on the DOJ

website. PDS requested from the EOUSA “copies . . . of all records and documents generated

by the Office of the United States Attorney for the District of Columbia that reflect the

identity of the person” who the USAODC identified as “a convicted sex offender” in its July

10, 2012 motion. A copy of that request is attached to this complaint as Exhibit 1.

47. The request explained in some detail how the release of the requested information

would benefit the public interest by, inter alia, “shedding light on the workings of the police,

prosecution and the courts that resulted in the conviction of an innocent man,” including the
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workings of the USAODC. which prosecuted Mr. Odorn.

48. The Executive Office received the FOIA request and assigned it Request Number

12-4833.

49. On January 7, 2013, the Executive Office sent PDS a form letter denying the

request and citing the Privacy Act. 5 U.S.C. § 552a. two FOIA exemptions. 5 U.S.C. § 552

(b)(6) and (b)(7)(c), and the convicted sex offender’s purported interest in keeping the

requested documents private. A copy of the denial letter is attached to this Complaint as

Exhibit 2.

50. On February 12. 2013. PDS sent a timely appeal of the Executive Office’s denial

to OIP. In its appeal, PDS explained that the provisions cited by the Executive Office do not

justify withholding the requested materials. A copy of the appeal is attached to this

Complaint as Exhibit 3.

51. OIP assigned the appeal number AP-2013-02087. On June 25. 2013. OIP

affirmed the withholding of the requested documents, again relying on 5 U.S.C. § 552

(b)(7)(c) and the convicted sex offender’s purported privacy interest. Ignoring the overriding

public interest in the requested documents, it incorrectly asserted that “any records

responsive to [PDS’s] request would be categorically exempt from disclosure.” A copy of

the letter denying the appeal is attached to this Complaint as Exhibit 4.

52. The requested records are not “categorically exempt” from disclosure. Neither 5

U.S.C. § 552 (b)(7)(c) nor any other FOIA provision permits DOJ to withhold the documents

requested, in part because of the overriding public interest in the documents, and in part

because the convicted sex offender has little, if any. cognizable privacy interest in keeping

secret his connection to the 1981 rape. He is not a person facing the specter of having his
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name baselessly linked to a crime. Rather. the DNA results would, but for the statute of

limitations, constitute sufficient evidence to publicly charge and prosecute the convicted sex

offender for the 1981 rape. Whatever interest the convicted sex otiender has in concealing

behind the statute of limitations his likely connection to the 1981 rape is far outweighed by

the public interest in the records. This is especially true given that for more than 30 years

Mr. Odom has had his name wrongly linked to the 1981 rape, and the victim’s name has long

been public. Only the likely true perpetrator has had his identity concealed.

Cause of Action

FOIA Violation For Failure To Release Public Records Sought By Plaintiff’s Request

53. Plaintiff repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 -52.

54. Defendant has created and/or obtained the records requested by plaintiff,

including, inter alia, records reflecting the identity of the “convicted sex offender” whose

DNA matches the DNA in the semen found on items from the scene of the 1981 rape for

which Kirk Odom was wrongfully convicted.

55. Defendant remains in control of the requested records.

56. Defendant has improperly withheld those records.

57. Defendant’s failure to release the public records sought by plaintiffs December 4,

2012 request violates FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552.
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Wherefore, plaintiff prays that this Court:

A. Enjoin the defendant from withholding the requested records;

B. Enter an order directing defendant to immediately produce the requested records to

plaintiff at no cost;

C. Grant such further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.

Dated Respectfulh submitted,

.

Sandra K. Levick (D.C. Bar No. 358630)

L

Sonam Henderson (D.C. Bar No. 1010801)

Public Defender Service
for the District of Columbia

Special Litigation Division
633 Indiana Ave. N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20004
(202) 628-1200
A ttornevs for Plaintiff
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Avis Ii. Buchanan
Director

T IE

PUBLIC
DEFENDER

SERVICE

Rudy Acrec
Deputy Director

December 4. 2012

VIA Email to: USAEO.FOIA. REQUESTS(iusdo j.gov

FOIA/PRIVACY Staff
Executive Office of United States Attorneys
600 E Street, N.W. (BICN Room 7300)
Department of Justice
Washington, D.C. 20530-0001

Re: Freedom of Information Act Request

Dear FOIA Officer:

I write to make a request pursuant to the Freedom of Information Act, 5 U.S.C. § 552.

I request copies (either electronic or paper) of all records and documents maintained
and/or generated by the Office of the United States Attorney for the District of Columbia,
that reflect the identity of the person identified by the United States Attorney for the District of
Columbia simply as “a convicted sex offender” in a pleading entitled “Government’s Motion to
Join Kirk Odom’s Motion to Vacate Convictions and Dismiss Indictment with Prejudice on the
Grounds of Actual Innocence under the Innocence Protection Act,” filed on July 10, 2012, in
the Superior Court of the District of Columbia in United States of America v. Kirk Odom,
Criminal No. 1981 FEIJ 2473.

This request includes, but is not limited to, the following:

• Any records reflecting the full name and date of birth of the “convicted sex offender”
who was identified as being the source of the semen on the victim’s robe and pillowcases
at the scene of the rape committed on February 24, 1981 in the 200 block of l3” Street,
SE., Washington D.C., for which Mr. Kirk L. Odom was wrongfully’ convicted and
incarcerated. Mr. Odom was exonerated and issued a certificate of actual innocence on
July 13, 2012.

• Any records reflecting the offense and jurisdiction in which the “convicted sex offender”
was convicted of a sex offense andlor is on the sex offender registry.

633 Indiana Avenue, NW, Washington. DC 20004
Tel (202)628.1200/(800) 341-2582 TTY (202)824.25311 Fax(20D824-2784 cw.pdsdc org
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December 4, 2012
Page 2

• Any records reflecting the physical appearance of the “convicted sex offender” likely
responsible for the crime for which Mr. Odom was wTongfully convicted, including his
height, weight, complexion, distinguishing features, facial hair, etc. as he appeared in
1981 or as close thereto as your records reflect, including his present appearance if earlier
records are not available.

• Any records reflecting the entity (including its locality or jurisdiction) that entered the
DNA profile of the “convicted sex offender” into a database that ultimately led to the
CODIS “hit” in Mr. Odom’s case.

Please note that I do not seek copies of the DNA profile or access to stored DNA samples
or DNA analyses of the “convicted sex offender” whose identity, and identifying information, I
otherwise seek pursuant to this request.

As I make this request on behalf of the Public Defender Service for the District of
Columbia. an agency that represents indigent defendants charged with and convicted of crimes in
the District of Columbia, including those, like Mr. Odom, who have been wrongfully convicted,
I respectfully request that any costs associated with this request be waived in the public interest.

The public interest will be served by fulfilling this request in myriad ways. These include
shedding light on the workings of police, prosecution, and the courts that resulted in the
conviction of an innocent man and the failure to arrest, prosecute, and convict the real
perpetrator: allowing a critical examination of the causes of the wrongful conviction; providing
necessary information to support systemic criminal justice reform in areas such as eyewitness
identification; and helping to identify others who may have been victims of the same perpetrator
and others who may have been wrongfully convicted of crimes in his stead. This public interest
overwhelms any putative privacy interest of the “convicted sex offender” in shielding his identity
as the person likely responsible for the brutal crime for which Mr. Odom spent more than
twenty-two (22) years wrongfully incarcerated.

Thank you for your prompt attention. I expect a reply within twenty (20) working days
of receipt of this request. If you have any questions regarding this request or if any aspect out is
unclear, please do not hesitate to contact me at (202) 824-2383 or email me at
Slevick@pdsdc.org.

Sincerely.

Sandra K. Levick
Chief Special Litigation Division
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U.S. 1)epartment of Justice

1 rcui2e Oce for in,wdSiarej

“‘\ j
Freedom of lnformaoon Pr:vacy Stall

600 E Stri N N’ S,,w 7O, Aicn’nnoj1 Buddr’t

Washrngcrn. DC 0530-000l

(.02) .Q’) fr. .‘5.-604? w sJoj

Requester: Sandra K. Levick

Request Number: 12-4833

Subject of Request: Third Party

Dear Requester:

The Executive Office for United States Attorneys has received your Freedom of

Information Act request and assigned the above number to the request.

You have requested records concerning a third party (or third parties). Records pertaining

to a third party generally cannot be released absent express authorization and consent of the third

party, proof that the subject of your request is deceased, or a clear demonstration that the public

interest in disclosure outweighs the personal privacy interest and that significant public benefit

would result from the disclosure of the requested records. Since you have not furnished a

release, death certificate, or public justification for release, the release of records concerning a

third party would result in an unwarranted invasion of personal privacy and would be in violation

of the Privacy Act, 5 U.S.C. 552a. These records are also generally exempt from disclosure

pursuant to sections (b)(6) and (b)(7)(C) of the Freedom of Information Act, 5 U.S.C. § 552.

We will release, if requested, any public records maintained in our files, such as court

records and news clippings, without the express authorization of the third party, a death

certificate, or public justification for release. If you desire to obtain public records, if public

records exist in our files, please reply with a letter asking for the public documents. Please send

your letter to the address above.

Should you obtain the written authorization and consent of the third party for release of

the records to you, please submit a new request for the documents accompanied by the written

authorization. A form is enclosed to assist you in providing us the authorization and consent of

the subject of your request. Your name should appear in the section titled “Optional.” The

authorization must be notarized or signed under penalty of perjury pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1001.

Please send your new request to the address above.

Please note that your original letter was split into separate files (“requests”). for

processing purposes, based on the nature of what of what you sought. Each file will have a

separate Request Number (listed below), for which you will receive a separate response:

(Page I of2)
Form No 006-6fl2
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This is our final action on this above-numbered request. You may appeal this decision in

this matter by writing to the Office of Information Policy, Department of Justice, 1425 New

York Avenue, Suite 11050, Washington, DC, 20530-0001. Both the envelope and the letter

of appeal should be marked “FOIA AppeaL’ Your appeal must be received by OIP within 60

days from the date of this letter. If you are dissatisfied with the results of any such administrative

appeal, judicial review may thereafter he available in U.S. District Court. 28 C.F.R. § 16.9.

Sincerely,

J’
,

Susan B. Gerson

Assistant Director

Enclosure

(Page 2 of 2)
Form No OO66/I2
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February 2, 201 3

FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT APPEAL

Office of Information Policy
Department of Justice
1425 New York Avenue, Suite 1 1050
Washington, D.C. 20530-0001

Re: Freedom of Information Act Appeal from Denial of
Request No. 12-4833

Dear Sir or Madam.

This is an appeal pursuant to the Freedom of Information Act
[hereinafter, “FOIA”l, 5 U.S.C. § 552. It concerns the Executive Office of
United States Attorney’s improper denial of a FOIA request seeking the name
of the likely true perpetrator of a brutal 1981 rape. Kirk Odom was wrongfully
convicted of that rape and incarcerated for more than 22 years. Mr. Odom’s
conviction was overturned and he received a certificate of actual innocence on
July 13, 2012, after DNA testing revealed that semen found at the scene of the
rape belonged not to him but rather to a convicted sex offender.1 The
convicted sex offender — who has only avoided prosecution for the rape and
the attendant publicity by operation of the statute of limitations, and who has
already been publicly linked to at least one sex offense - has no legitimate
interest in keeping his connection to the rape private. Conversely, the public
has a profound interest in learning the identity of that convicted sex offender.
which will shed light on how the actions, oversights, procedures and decision
making of the United States Attorney’s Office and other federal agencies led to
Mr. Odom being wrongfully convicted while the true perpetrator remained on
the streets, free to commit further crimes. Accordingly, the Executive Office’s
reliance on 5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(6) and (h)(7Xc) and 5 U.S.C. § 552a as
justifications for withholding the requested information is without merit, and
we respectfully request that you provide the requested information, as required
by law.

Sec Order and Certificate of Actual innocence. iited States Kirk L. Odom,
DC. Sup. Ct,, Crim. No F-2473-81 (Jul. 13. 2012), attached as Exhibit A.

I HE

PUBLIC
DEFENDER

SERvIcE
. t5 i)1vr

v. ww pdsdc org
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1. Background

A. The Offense and the Investigation

Before dawn on February 24, 1981. a man broke into Sherry Youngs apartment in the
District of Columbia, and woke her by placing a gun to her head. He threatened to kill her and
demanded money. She told him that she didn’t have cash but she did have traveler’s checks. He
made a mocking statement about his chances of being able to successfully cash the checks. After
providing her with a brief view of his face in the dim light, he blindfolded her. gagged her, and
bound her hand and foot. He then sodomized and raped her.

Soon after the man left. Ms. Young managed to free herself sufficiently to call for help.
The police arrived a few minutes later. Among other items, they collected a pillowcase from a
pillow that the perpetrator had placed under Ms. Young’s hips during the rape and a robe she put
on after he left. They also took a description of her assailant, whom she described as a young
black male, between 20 and 30 years old, between 5’o” and 5’8”, clean shaven, with short hair, a
wiry build and a medium complexion. The day after the attack, Ms. Young worked with a police
artist to create a composite.

The resulting composite depicted a nondescript young black male. Nevertheless, more
than a month later, a police officer to whom Mr. Odorn was talking about an unrelated matter
decided that Mr. Odom. who was eighteen at the time, resembled the composite of Ms. Young’s
attacker. On this hunch, police assembled a very suggestive photo lineup containing a photo of
Mr. Odom along with photos of nine other men. Eight of the photos were of men who did not
match Mr. Young’s description of her attacker as young. clean shaven, and short-haired, but
were instead older men who were not clean shaven or had various hairstyles. Only one photo
other than that of Mr. Odom was of a young, clean shaven man with short hair. On April 13,
1981, Ms. Young tentatively identified Mr. Odom’s photo from the photo lineup. On May 19,
1981, police again showed Ms. Young the photo lineup to refresh her memory. then conducted a
live lineup with Mr. Odom. An Assistant United States Attorney from the Office of the United
States Attorney for the District of Columbia [hereinafter, the USAODC”] was present for the
live lineup. Mr. Odom appears to have been the only person included in both the photo and live
lineups. Additionally, he was made to stand in the exact center of a seven person lineup in
which, again, most of the men wore mustaches and or were visibly older than ?vir, Odom. After
viewing this suggestive lineup, Ms. Young incorrectly identified Mr. Odom as her attacker.

2 A comprehensive overview of the facts of the crime and investigation, with citations to the trial
and investigatory record, can he found in Mr. Odom’s Motion to Vacate Convictions and
Dismiss Indictment with Prejudice on the Grounds of Actual Innocence under the hmocence
Protection Act, United States v. Kirk L. Odom. D.C. Sup. Ct.. Crim. No F2473-8l (Mar. 14.
2012). attached as Exhibit B. The United States’ July 10, 2012 motion joining Mr. Odom’s
motion in full is attached as Exhibit C.
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B. Mr. ()dom s Prosecution and Conviction

The same day as the lineup, a prosecutor from the USAODC had Ms. Young testify to a
grand jury, which returned an indictment against Mr. Odom. Attorneys from that office
prosecuted Mr. Odom through to his conviction, and litigated his appeals. They did so
notwithstanding the suggestive nature of the lineups, and the fact that Mr. Odom had a dark
complexion and so did not match Ms. Young’s description of her attacker as medium
complexioned. They did so notwithstanding the complete lack of physical or circumstantial
evidence linking Mr. Odorn to the crime. And they did so even afler learning that Mr. Odom
was limited by intellect, educational attainment, and experience, making it very unlikely that he
was Ms. Young’s attacker, who, for instance, was sophisticated enough to know what a traveler’s
check was and that he would have no chance of being able to cash it.

The USAODC was aided in overcoming the defense presentation of the deficiencies in
the case against Mr. Odom by misleading and factually incorrect testimony from a Federal
Bureau of investigation [hereinafter, “FBI”] hair examiner purporting to corroborate Ms.
Young’s misidentification of Mr. Odom as her attacker. FBI Special Agent Myron 1. Scholberg
testified that Mr. Odorn’s hair was microscopically consistent with a hair found on Ms. Young’s
nightgown, and that his analysis was reliable because he had only found inconclusive results
“only eight or ten times in the past ten years, while performing thousands of analyses.” This
testimony was almost identical to testimony given in another Tongft1l conviction case, Donald
E. Gates v. United States, D.C. Court of Appeals No, 82-1529. by Special Agent Michael
Malone, which the USAODC has conceded was “unfounded and exaggerated the probative value
of the hair match.”

Mr. Odom was convicted of first degree burglary while armed, rape while armed.
sodomy, and armed robbery. On January 6, 1982, he was sentenced to twenty to sixty-six years
in prison.

C DNA Testing and Mr. Odom s Exoneration

Mr. Odom was incarcerated for more than twenty-two years and spent an additional
decade on parole before finally being exonerated in 2012. Mr. Odom’s exoneration was the
result of a motion under the Innocence Protection Act filed on his behalf by the Public Defender
Service for the District of Columbia [hcreinaftcr. “PDS”j. That motion led to DNA testing on
physical evidence recovered from the scene of the attack. Mitochondrial DNA testing on the hair
that FBI Special Agent Scholberg told the jury came from Mr. Odom demonstrated to a scientific
certainty that the hair was not Mr. Odom’s. Additionally, testing was performed on the
pillowcase from a pillow that the perpetrator had placed under Ms. Young’s hips during the rape
and on the robe Ms. Young put on after the rape. The laboratory found semen on cuttings from
the robe and the pillowcase and determined through nuclear DNA testing that the semen did not
come from Mr. Odorn,
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However, the USAODC did not feel that this testing alone gave it a sufficient
understanding to assess Mr. Odom’s motion to vacate his convictions and dismiss the
indictments. Instead, it felt that in order to properly evaluate Mr. Odom’s conviction it was
necessary to run the DNA profile the laboratory obtained from the semen against the national
CODIS database of DNA profiles to see if they could identify the person from whom the semen
came. As USAODC told the court, “in order to fully and fairly assess the merits of [Mr.
Odom’s] motion, the government believes it must. . . obtain the results of a CODIS search.”3

In addition to marking its own belief that the CODIS results were necessary to “fully and
fairly” evaluate how Mr. Odom came to be convicted, the USAODC acknowledged Mr. Odom’s
own right to see the CODIS results. For instance, on May 24, 2012, Assistant United States
Attorney Kim Herd notified PDS that the USAODC needed a four week continuance for its
response it order to give it time to upload the profile from the semen into CODIS. The next day,
PDS agreed not to oppose the continuance with the understanding that the CODIS results would
be made available to PDS as soon as they were available. That afternoon, AUSA Herd
confirmed that USAODC would “share the CODIS results with you when they’re available.”4

On July 10, 2012, after receiving and reviewing the CODIS results, the USAODC moved
to join Mr. Odorn’s motion to vacate his convictions. It acknowledged that Mr. Odom had been
wrongfully convicted and that there was clear and convincing evidence that he was innocent and
had not committed the crimes against Ms. Young. While allowing that the semen had come from
“a convicted sex offender,” it did not include in its filing the name of that “convicted sex
offender” or any of the other information resulting from the CODIS search. Since then it has
steadfastly refused to live up to its agreement with PDS to share the CODIS results. Instead of
disclosing to PDS and the public at large what those results reveal about the actions, oversights,
procedures, and decision-making by USAODC and other federal agencies that led to the
wrongful conviction of Mr. Odom, and left the true perpetrator free, the agency chose to conceal
those results and their implications.

D. The Public Defender Service FOJA request

On December 4, 2012, PDS requested from the Executive Office for the United States
Attorneys [hereinafter, the “Executive Office”] “copies. . . of all records and documents
generated by the [USAODCJ that reflect the identity of the person” that the USAODC identified
as “a convicted sex offender” in its July 10, 2012 motion. The request specifically noted that

Government’s Unopposed Motion for an Extension of Time to File Response to Defendant’s
Motion to Vacate Convictions and Dismiss Indictment, United States v. Kirk Odom, D.C. Sup.
Ct, Crim. No F-2473-81 (April 18, 2012), attached as Exhibit D.
“Email correspondence between Kim Herd and Sandra Levick, with copies to Robert Okun.
James Sweeney and Michael Ambrosino of the USAODC (May 24-25, 2012), attached as
Exhibit E.

PDS’s December 4. 2012 FOLA request is attached as Exhibit F.
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PDS was “not seek[ing] copies of the DNA profile or access to stored DNA samples or DNA
analyses of the ‘convicted sex offënder” (emphasis in original). PDS requested records falling
into several other categories, including records reflecting “the offense and jurisdiction in which
the ‘convicted sexual offender’ was convicted of a sex offense and1or is on the sex offender
registry”; “the physical appearance of the convicted sex offender”; and “the entity (including
its locality or jurisdiction) that entered the DNA profile of the convicted sex offender’ into a
database that ultimately led to the CODIS hit’ in Mr. Odom’s case.” However, the basic thing
being requested was the iiarne of the convicted sex offender.

In its request, PDS explained in some detail how the public interest would benefit from
the release of the requested information. We pointed out that release of this information would
“shed[] light on the workings of the police, prosecution and the courts that resulted in the
conviction of an innocent man,” including the workings of the USAODC, which prosecuted Mr.
Odorn. We also noted that the requested information would “allow a critical examination of the
causes of wrongful conviction,” and “provid[e] necessary information” — such as the physical
attributes of the real perpetrator. which may differ in key ways from Mr. Odom — “to support
systemic criminal justice reform in areas such as eyewitness identification.” Additionally, we
noted that the requested information identifying the true perpetrator could shed light on the
“failure to arrest prosecute and convict the real perpetrator” of the rape for which Mr. Odom was
wrongfully convicted, as well as to “help[] to identify others who may have been [his] victims”
and “others who may have been wrongfully convicted of [his] crimes.” Finally, we explained
that these public interests outweighed any interest the “convicted sex offender” might have in
keeping private “his identity as the person likely responsible for the brutal crime.”

E. The Executive Of/ice ‘s January 7, 2013 Denial

On January?. 2013, the Executive Office replied to PDS’s request with a form letter
denying the request. See Exhibit G, attached. That letter stated that the records requested
concerned a third parv and that such records cannot be released absent consent of the third party.
proof of the third party’s death, or a demonstration that the public interest outweighs the personal
privacy interest of the third party. It cited to the Privacy Act, 5 U.S.C. § 552a. as well as to
FOIA. 5 U.S.C. § 552 (b)(6) and (b)(7)(c). The form letter did not acknowledge in any way that
when the requested information is the identity of an unknown person, the Executive Office’s
demand that the requestor furnish consent from the unknown person or proof of that person’s
death is an absurdity. It is a classic Catch-22 — neither consent nor proof of death could possibly
be obtained without knowing who the person is, and if we knew who the person was, we would
not need to request his name. The letter also completely ignored the public interest justifications
highlighted in our request. stating simply and incorrectly, “you have not furnished a ... public
justification for release.”
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H. Discussion

A. Aonc othe Provisions a! Federal Law Cited hi the Executive O,1ice Applies

In denying PDS’s FOIA request for the name of the “convicted sex offender,” the
Executive Office for United States Attorneys cited three provisions of federal law: (1) 5 USC.

552a (2) U S C 2 (b)(6) and 3I “ I S C 552 (b)ç7)(L 1\one ot these pro1sie-’s s
applicable to the instant request.

I. The Privacy Act Does Not Bar the Disclosure of Records. Like Those at issue Here.
the Disclosure of Which Is Mandated by FOIA

The first provision relied on by the Executive Office was the Privacy Act, 5 U.S.C. §
552a. That provision, however, does not operate to bar the disclosure of records that is otherwise
required under FOIA. See 5 U.S.C.A. § 552a(b)(2) (“No agency shall disclose any record which
is contained in a system of records by any means of communication to any person, or to another

‘agency, except pursuant to a written request by, or with the prior written consent of, the
individual to whom the record pertains, unless disclosure of the record would be . . . required
under section 552 of this title [FOIAI”); id. at § 552a(t)(2) (“No agency shall rely on any
exemption in this section to withhold from an individual any record which is otherwise
accessible to such individual under the provisions of section 552 of this title”); Greentree V. US.
Customs Service, 674 F.2d 74, 76-78 (D.C. Cir. 1982) (“The Privacy Act limits access to any
‘record’ contained in a ‘system of records’ without the consent of the individual to whom the
record pertains unless disclosure.., is required by FOL4” (emphasis added).); Id. at 79
(“[Sjection (b)(2) of the Privacy Act represents a Congressional mandate that the Privacy Act not
be used as a barrier to FOIA access”); id. at 75 (FOIA request must be considered
“independently of the Privacy Act”). As explained below, FOIA requires the disclosure of the
requested records: accordingly, the Privacy Act does not apply.

2. Neither FOIA Exemption Cited by the Executive Office Is Applica

FOIA “requires every agency ‘upon any’ request for records which. . . reasonably
describes such records’ to make such records ‘promptly available to any person.’” Dept of
Justice v. Reporters Committee For Freedom ofPress, 489 U.S. 749, 754-55 (1989) (quoting 5
U.S.C. § 552(a)(3)). As the Supreme Court has explained, FOTA “implement[sJ a general
philosophy of full agency disclosure.’ Id. at 754. It “was intended ‘to pierce the veil of
administrative secrecy and to open agency action to the light of public scrutiny.’” American
Civil Liberties Union v, Dept ofJustice. 655 F.3d 1, 5 (D.C. Cir. 2011) (quoting Dept ofthe Air
frorce v. Rose, 425 U.S. 352, 361 (1976)).

The “exclusive” exceptions to FOIAs policy of blanket agency disclosure are the nine
exemptions codified at 5 U.S.C. § 552(b). American Civil Liberties Union, 655 F.3d at 5-6.
These exemptions are “narrowly construed” because of FOIA’s “strong presumption in favor of
disclosure” Id (internal citations and quotations omitted): SOt’ also .iilner v. Dept of the i\iv’,
131 S.Ct. 1259. 1265 (2011 . Moreover, the “agency ‘bears the burden of establishing the
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appIicabi1itv of any exemption it invokes, and ‘even if [the] agency establishes an exemption. it
must nonetheless disclose all reasonably segregable. nonexempt portions of the requested
record(s).” Roth v. Dept ofJustice. 642 F.3d 1161. 1167 (D.C. Cir. 201 1) (quoting
Assassination Archives & Research Cr,’. v. CIA, 334 F.3d 55. 57—5$ (D.C. Cir. 2003)).

The Executive Office has not attempted to establish the applicability of any of the
exemptions. and it has failed to segregate and disclose portions of the requested records to which
no exemptions apply. Instead, it has withheld all responsive records under the bare and incorrect
assertion that two FOIA exemptions apply; 5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(6) and 5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(7)(c).

a. 5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(6) Protects Only “Detailed” Government Records on an
Individual, and Not the Basic Identity Information PDS Requested

5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(6) allows an agency to withhold “personnel and medical files and
similar files” if the disclosure of such files “would constitute a clearly unwarranted invasion of
personal privacy.” 5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(6). The basic threshold for application of this provision is
that the records requested constitute “personnel and medical files and similar files.” Dep’t of
Slate v. Wash. Post Co.. 456 U.S. 595. 599 (19821.

The requested materials are clearly neither personnel nor medical files. Nor are they
“similar files.” While that phrase has been interpreted “broadly,” it is not vacuous, and its
coverage is limited to “detailed Government records on an individual.” Id, (emphasis added,
citation omitted). PDS has not requested detailed and comprehensive files; indeed, the basic
item requested by PDS is the single name of a single individual. A name does not qualify as a
“detailed” record. Instead. “[t]here must be some personal information that relates to a particular
individual for exemption 6 protection to be warranted,” and, “‘a name and work telephone
number is not personal or intimate information, such as a home address or a social security
number, that normally would be considered protected information under FOIA Exemption 6.”
Brown v. F.B.I. 873 F.Supp.2d 388. 402 (D.D.C. 2012) (quoting Leadership Conference on Civil
Rights v. Gon:ales, 404 F.Supp.2d 246, 257 (D.D.C. 2005)) (emphasis added); cf National Assn
ofRetired Federal Employees v, Homer, 879 F.2d 873, 874 (D.C. Cir. 1989) (Exemption is not
applicable unless disclosure “compromise[s] a substantial, as opposed to a de minimis, privacy
interest”). Instead, the exemption applies to files, like pardon petitions. for example, which
contain a “broad range of detailed and highly personal information” that is of a kind with what
might he found in a personnel or medical tile. Judicial Watch, Inc. v. Dep ofJustice. 365 F.3d
1108. 1124-25 (I).C. Cir. 2004). The name of the “convicted sex offender” bears no relation to
such detailed files.

See id. (Exemption 6 covers pardon petitions containing such details as “social security
number”; “detailed account[s] of his or her criminal history. substance abuse, occupational
licensing history, and such personal biographical matters as family histor . marital status, and the
names. b;rth dates, custody. and location of the applicant s children ; “restdences. employment
histor\’, military record. financial status. . . . medical history”; and even descriptions, provided by
the applicants “of their lives since conviction, their mental and physical well-being, and
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b. The Requested Records Do Not Concern the Agency’s Investigatory
Activities, As Would Be Required to Invoke 5 U.S.C. § 552h)(7(c)

5 U.S.C. § 552 (b)(7)(c) allows an agency to withhold “records or information compiled
for law enforcement purposes” if disclosure of those records “could reasonably he expected to
constitute an unwarranted invasion of personal privacy.” 5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(7)(C). But an agency
cannot simply claim that all its files have been compiled for law enforcement files: rather it must
show that the particular files at issue are law enforcement records within the meaning of FO1A.
See campbell, 164 F.3d at 32. Thus, in order to invoke this exception, the agency must
demonstrate a “nexus” between (1) the specific requested documents. (2) “the agency’s
investigatory activities,” and (3) “the enforcement of federal laws or. . . the maintenance of
national security.” See Frau v. Webster, 673 F.2d 408, 420-421 (D.C. Cir. 1 982) (“To satisfy
this requirement of a “nexus,” the agency should he able to identify a particular individual or a
particular incident as the object of its investigation and the connection between that individual or
incident and a possible security risk or violation of federal law.”). The Executive Office has not
and cannot make such a showing in this case.

The records requested here — primarily the name of the “convicted sex offender” whose
DNA matched that of the semen found at the scene of rape — fail both the “investigatory” and
“enforcement” prongs of this nexus test. The records do not relate to any investigatory or
enforcement activities undertaken by the Executive Office or the USAODC. Those agencies did
not acquire the records in question while attempting to investigate the offenses against Ms.
Young or to enforce the criminal laws against her attacker. indeed, it is no longer possible to
enforce the laws in this case. The statute of limitations for the 1981 offenses against Ms. Young
expired many years before the CODIS hit were generated and the records in question were
obtained.7

Rather than obtaining the requested records through its investigatory or enforcement
activities, the USAODC only submitted the CODIS request and generated the records in question
as part of its response to Mr. Odom’s motion to vacate his convictions under the District of
Columbia’s Innocence Protection Act. Had Mr. Odom not filed that motion, no action on his
case would have been taken. In filings before the court, the USAODC aptly described its
activities not as a criminal investigation, but rather as “assess[ing]” the merits of Mr. Odorn’s

emotional pleas for pardons, including letters from friends, family members, employers, and
attorneys.”).

At the time of the offense. the statute of limitations for sexual assault was borrowed from
federal law and was live years. See United States v. Brown, 422 A.2d 1281 • 1283-1285 (D.C.
1 980). A law was passed in 1982 creating a six year statute of limitations: that stood until 2005
when it was changed to 15 years. See DC ST § 23-113, historical and statutory notes (West
2010, Accordingly, the statute of limitations against the real perpetrator expired in 1987 at the
latest and cannot be re SL Fno,nc c i L lisfti tatcs 50 \ 3d 48 463 -+6 (DC 2fl’2
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motion. Because the records were not obtained as part of an investigation or an attempt to
enforce laws, 5 U.S.C. 552(b)(7)(c) does not apply.

B Lien // L Sc 52(h)6) or L SC 552b)P)(c) 4ppiicd Dicclosure foiddSt Ii
Be Required Because the Public interests Overwhelm Any Putative Privacy Jmeresr

Although 5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(6) and 5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(7)(c) protect different types of
records, they both serve the same function of “protect[ing] the privacy of individuals identified
in certain agency records,” against some “unwarranted” disclosures. American Civil Liberties
Union. 655 F.3d at 6. The “personnel and medical files and similar files” files covered by 5
U.S.C. § 552(h)(6) are protected against disclosures that “would constitute a clearly unwarranted
invasion of personal privacy.” 5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(6). Similarly, the “records or information
compiled for law enforcement purposes” covered by 5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(7)(C) are protected
against disclosure only to “to the extent that” disclosure “could reasonably be expected to
constitute an unwarranted invasion of personal privacy.” 5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(7)(C).

“[Bjecause [5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(7)(C)j permits withholding of such records if disclosure
would constitute an ‘unwarranted’ invasion of personal privacy, while [5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(6)j
requires a ‘clearly unwarranted’ invasion to justify nondisclosure, ‘Exemption 7(C) is more
protective of privacy than Exemption 6’ and thus establishes a lower bar for withholding
material.” American Civil Liberties Union, 655 F.3d at 6 (quoting Dep’r ofDefense v. FLRA,
510 U.S. 487, 496 n. 6 (1994)); see also Reporters Committee. 489 U.S. at 755-756; Morley v.
C.I.A.. 508 F.3d 1108. 1127 (D.C. Cir. 2007) (“Exemption 6’s requirement that disclosure be
‘clearly unwarranted’ instructs us to tilt the balance... in favor of disclosure.... [I]ndeed, under
Exemption 6, the presumption in favor of disclosure is as strong as can be found anywhere in the
Act.” (internal citations and quotation marks omitted)). Accordingly. if an agency cannot
demonstrate that balancing under 5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(7)(C) weighs in favor of withholding
documents, it cannot prevail under 5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(6) either. See American Civil Liberties
Union, 655 F.3d at 6; Roth, 642 F.3d at 1173.

In order to justify withholding the requested documents under 5 U.S.C. § 552(h)(7)(C).
the Executive Office must show that the documents constitute an “unwarranted” invasion of
privacY. Any invasion of privacy caused by a disclosure is unwarranted only if. on balance. “the
[privacy] interest Congress intended the Exemption to protect” outweighs “the public interest in
disclosure.” American Civil Liberties Union, 655 F.3d at 6 (quoting Reporters Comm., 489 U.S.
at 776). Here, the balancing of the public and private interests cannot justify withholding the
requested documents under 5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(7)(C). and so cannot justify withholding under the
higher bar of 5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(6) either.

1. The “Convicted Sex Offender” Has a Vanishingly Small Privacy Interest in
çceaiinF1is Likely Involvement in the Rape

The only privacy interest at stake in this request is that of the “convicted sex offender” in
not having the puhlc learn that his DNA matches semen recovered from the scene of a brutal
rape. That interest is vanishingly small. In cases of DNA exonerations like Mr. Odom’s, CODIS
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results revealing the identity of the real perpetrator are routinely made public, including in
instances n which no charges have been filed against the real perpetrator. Presumably this is
because “DNA testing has an unparalleled ability both to exonerate the wrongly convicted and to
identify the guilty.” District AttorneytsOf/Ice for Third Judicial Dist. v. Osborne. 557 U.S. 52.
54-55 (2009). In this case, absent the statute of limitations. the DNA match would have been
sufficient to indict. try and likely convict the “convicted sex offender” for the 1981 rape.
Indictments, trials, and convictions are public events that would produce public records. Thus
the statute of limitations is the sole reason the connection of the “convicted sex offender” to the
1981 rape has not already been revealed publicly.

The interest of the “convicted sex offender” in concealing behind the statute of
limitations his almost irrefutable connection to a brutal rape attack on Ms. Young bears no
resemblance to those cases in which courts have held that targets of criminal investigations that
came to nothing have a significant interest in keeping that information private. See American
Civil Liberties Union. 655 F.3d at 7 n.8. Nor is it like the interest of a person whose name is
mentioned briefly and without explanation in a law enforcement file, the release of which would
“engender comment and speculation and carr[y] a stigmatizing connotation.” Fit:gibbon v.
C.I.A., 911 F.2d 755. 767 (D.C. Cir. 1990) (citation and quotation marks omitted). The
“convicted sex offender” is not a person whom law enforcement evaluated and cleared, nor is he
a person facing the specter of having his name tarred by unfounded “comment and speculation.”
Just the opposite: the DNA represents almost irrefutable evidence that he is the true perpetrator
of the rape. By the actions and inactions of law enforcement agencies like the USAODC, he has
avoided the reputational and legal consequences of his actions for more than thirty years, foisting
them instead onto Mr. Odom. There is no reason for this Office to give him a further windfall by
allowing him to continue to conceal his connection to this offense from the public.

This is all the more true given that he is a “convicted sex offender” whose name has
already been linked to at least one sex offense. Presumably he had a public trial, perhaps with
media coverage, and is now subject to public registration requirements. The additional
embarrassment and reputational harm of being linked to another similar offense is much less than
it would be were the crime in question different in kind from his previous offenses or if he had
no previous offenses. See Roth, 642 F.3d at 1175 (whether alleged offense similar to prior
offenses relevant to privacy inquiry).

See. e.g.. Rob Warden. Meet the Exonerated: Maurice Peterson, Center on Wrongful
Convictions. Northwestern University School of Law.
http*vwwiaw.northwestern.edWwrongfulconvictions1exonerations/ilpattersonmSummary.html
(last visited Feb. 8.2013) (reviewing Maurice Peterson’s wrongful conviction for a knife murder
and identifying by name James Stuckev, whose connection to the murder was revealed via a
2002 COD1S hit but who was not prosecuted): Chris Kahn. Rapist Linked to 1982 Slaying. The
Associated Press (\1ar, 10. 2004). available at http*truthinjustice.orwtreal-rapist.htrn (last
visited Feb. 8. 2013) (identity of true perpetrator identified by CODIS hit in Earl Washington
wrongful conviction case revealed prior to any charging decision).
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2. The Public interest Is OverwheIrnin

For purposes of FOIA. the public interest is determined by “the extent to which
disclosure advances ‘the basic purpose of the Freedom of Information Act to open agency action
to the light of public scrutiny, thereby furthering ‘the citizens right to be informed about what
their government is up to.” American Civil Liberties Union, 655 F.3d at 6 (quoting Reporters
Cornrn 489 U.S. at 772-73). The documents requested here advance that purpose substantially.
Those documents will shed light on the USAODC’s role in causing Kirk Odom, a man whose
innocence it now acknowledges, to spend 22 years in prison for a crime he did not commit. The
public has an indisputable interest in understanding “what their government [wa]s up to,” in
cases that result in wrongful convictions, id.: we as a people have a basic right to know what
went wrong and what changes to government policies and procedures are necessary to avoid
depriving innocent people of their freedom.

The recent case of Roth v. United Sates Department ofJustice, 642 F.3d 1161 (D.C. Cir.
2011), is instructive. In it, the D.C. Circuit considered the FOJA request of a man on death row
for any documents maintained by the FBI concerning a possible investigation of three other men
for the murder for which he was convicted. The FBI refused to divulge whether any such
documents existed, because to reveal whether those men had ever been suspects in the case
would publicly connect them to a murder. The court noted the public’s deep concern with
wrongful convictions, and held that the possibility that the disclosure would reveal that an
innocent man had been convicted and shed light on the FBI’s role in bringing about that
conviction was sufficient to overcome the privacy interests of the other men and mandate
disclosure. Id. at 357. 359-60.

The public interest here is similarly significant. The identity of the likely true perpetrator
is necessary to evaluate the full extent of the errors that resulted in Mr. Odom’s wrongful
conviction, including whether there was evidence pointing to the true perpetrator that was
ignored or discounted. Additionally, the evidence the USAODC used to convict Mr. Odom
eyewitness testimony and hair analysis — is coming under increasing scrutiny. See, e.g., State v.
Hender.con. 27 A.3d 872. 878 (N.J. 2011) (reviewing problems with eyewitness identifications,
including suggestion by police and prosecutors. and creating revised framework for admissibility
and use); Nat’l Acad. Sci., Strengthening Forensic Science in the United States: A Path Forward
160 (2009) (finding lack of statistical basis and uniform standards in hair analysis).9 The identity
of the “convicted sex offender” will reveal the degrees to which he resembled Mr. Odom and
matched Ms. Young’s description, help identify how Ms. Young’s memory and testimony
became tainted, and, in doing so, aid the ongoing public discussion about how to create
frameworks for the use of eyewitness and forensic evidence by agencies like the USAODC that
minimize the risk of wrongful convictions.

Indeed, as explained above, it is clear that the hair testimony from FBI Special Agent Scholberg
that the USAODC put on in this case was unfounded and improper.
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Indeed there are dimensions on which the public interest is greater, and the private
interest ICSS, than n Roth. Roth concerned the possthiiin that the agencies involved tad helped
to wrongfully convict an innocent man and were withholding information about the true
perpetrators. Here, there is no possibility’, oniv stark reality. There is no question in this case
that the USAODC had a role in a terrible injustice, or that the person whose name it is
withholding has a strong link to the crime. Instead of presenting the Roth question of whether a
grave injustice occurred, this case presents the different but equally compelling question of how
a confirmed injustice came about, what role the USAODC played in causing that injustice, and
what the public can do to make sure that this confirmed injustice is not repeated. It also presents
an opportunity not seen in Roth to solve unsolved crimes and/or uncover other wrongful
convictions by adding a link to the criminal history of the “convicted sex offender” that might
reveal or confirm his modus operandi and the territory in which he worked. Such information
might provide enough of an inference that he, and not someone else, committed a particular
attack to cause defense attorneys, prosecutors, judges or police officers to reexamine old cases.
This is far from mere speculation: on the day Ms. Young viewed Mr. Odom in the live lineup,
there were three other women present, none of whom identified Mr. Odom. who suffered similar
attacks in the same area in the months before Ms. Young’s rape.

Finally, the fact that the true perpetrator cannot be prosecuted for the offenses against Ms.
Young creates additional public interest in the requested information. In addition to its interest
in understanding why and how the USA ODC failed to apprehend and prosecute the likely true
perpetrator prior to the expiration of the statute of limitations, the public has some right to know
what he has done and to take precautions. Indeed, that is usually’ the government’s position. The
United States has explained to the Supreme Court in defense of the public’s interest in
information on sex offenders that the “[pjublic interest is better served by a scheme that opens up
public records and information to the public and allows an informed citizenry to make its own
judgments, than by a scheme that has the government apply its own filter to limit what otherwise
publicly available information individuals should have.” Brief of the United States as Amicus
Curiae at 22, Smith v. Doe, 538 V.5.84 (2003). rehearing denied, 538 U.S. 1009.

In sum, the identity of the “convicted sex offender” is necessary to understand how Mr.
Odom’s wrongful conviction came about and to make the most of this terrible lesson for
improving the functioning of our criminal justice system. During the pendency of the
exoneration motion, the USAODC told the Superior Court that it needed the CODIS results to
“fully and fairly” assess Mr. Odom’s conviction. There is no legitimate reason to deny the
public the same opportunity to use those results to “fully and fairly” assess the government
conduct that led to that conviction.

III. Conclusion

For more than 22 years. Kirk Odom. an innocent man. languished in prison because the
USAODC convinced a jury that be had committed a brutal rape. His innocence has now been
established, but the USAODC is still withholding the name of the likely true perpetrator of the
rape. and with that name, information about how its own actions. policies and procedures
contributed to this grave inlustice. The victim’s name is public. Mr. Odom has had his name
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publicly linked to the rape for three decades. despite having had nothing to do with it. Only thelikely true perpetrator remains anonymous. it makes little sense that the only person with anyculpability in this brutal crime is also the only person whose name is protected from publicdisclosure. That result is not fair. and it is not required, or even permitted. by law. As explainedabove, the Freedom of Information Act requires that this information be released to the publicWe respectfully request that you grant our appeal and fulfill our FOIA request. Consistent withFOlKs requirements, we expect a response within 20 days. 5 US.C.A. § 552 (a)(6)(A)(ii). Ifyou have any questions regarding this request or if any aspect of it is unclear, please do nothesitate to contact us. Sandra Levick can be reached at (202) 824-2383 and Slevickpdsdc.org,and Sonam Henderson can be reached at (202) 824-2567 and Shenderson(pdsdc.org.

Sincerely,

Shdra K. Levick
Chief. Special Litigation Division

Sonam Henderson
Staff Attorney. Special Litigation Division
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I .S. l)cpartmeni of Justice
Office of information Policy
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June 25, 2013

Sandra Levick. Esq.
Public Defender Service

for the District of Columbia Re: Appeal No. AP-2013-070$7
63 Indiana Avenue, NW Request No. 2012-4X33
Washington, DC 20004 SVR:RRK

1A: 1.S. Mail

Dear Ms. Le\ick:

You appealed from the action of the Exccutive Office for [nited States Attomc
(L()l’SA) on your request for access to records concerning the identity of a convicted sex
offender” located in the I nited States Attorneys Office for the District of Columbia

After carefull considering your appeal. I am affirming EOL’SAs action on your request.
The Freedom of Information Act provides for disclosure of many agency records At the same
time. Congress included in the FOIA nine exemptions from disclosure that provide protection for
important interests such as personal privacy, privileged communications. and certain law
enforcement activities.

To the extent that responsive records exist, without consent, proof of death, official
acknowledgment of an investigation, or an overriding public interest, disclosure of law
enforcement records concerning an individual could reasonably be expected to constitute an
unwarranted invasion of personal priacy. See 5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(7XC). Because any recordc
responsive to your request ould be categorically exempt from disclosure. LOLSA properly
asserted Fxcmption 7(C) and was not required to conduct a search for the requested records
e Biackwell v. FBI. 646 F.3d 37, 41-42 (D.C. Cir. 2011 (upholding agencvs refusal to
conduct a search for law enforcement records pertaining to named third parties because such
records are categorically exempt from disclosure in the absence of an overriding public interest)

Please be ad ised that this Offices decision was made only after a full review of thic
matter. Your appeal was assigned to an attorney with this Office who thoroughly re ieed and
analyzed our appeal. your underiing request. and the action of EOUSA in response to your
request.

it ou are dissatisfied ith m action on sour appeal. the I OlA permits ou to tile a
‘su ekr dNLrt . a aL ‘vu cc ‘.th “ ‘ C i 4)B

Te1eph’ai r2” 5l4-34,
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I or sour information, the Office of Go’4 emment Information Services (0015) offers
mediation sers ices to resole disputes betxsecn I OIA requesters and federal agencies as a non
exclusi’4e alternative to litigation Osing OGIS services does not affect our right to pursue
litigation The contact information for 0015 is as follovs: Office ol Government Intormation
Services. National Archives and Records Administration, Room 2510. 8601 Adelphi Road.
College Park. Maryland 20730-6001. e-mail at ogis4nara.gov. telephone at 301-837-1996. toll
free at 1-877-684-6448. or facsimile at 301-837-0348

Sincerely.

Scan R. ONeill
Chief
Administrative Appeals Stall

B:

Anne D. Work
Senior Counsel
Administrative Appeals Stall
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United States Department of Justice

I)ekiuIanif

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

United States Department of Justice
To: (IJel00000! nerne ann ahtresc)

950 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW
Washington, DC 20530

A lawsuit has been filed aeainst von.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on ou (not counting the day you received iu or 60 days if ou
are the United Statc, or a United States agency. or an officer or employee ol the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P 1 2 (a )(2) or (3 — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complatnt or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules ol C’tvii Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or nlaintiiTs attoniev.
whose name and address nie:

Sandra K. Levick. Sonam Henderson
Public Defender Service for the District of Columbia
633 Indiana Avenue, NW
Washington. DC 20004

1! you fail to respond. judgment by de1iult will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court
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